ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 10 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91, 622

CLERK STERENTY COURT
By Chief Deputy Clore

THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. 96-2199

L.T. CASE NO. 95-5734A

GERARDO PLAZA,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street, 5th Floor Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963 Louis K. Nicholas II, Esq. Special Assistant Public Defender 780 N.W. 42 Avenue, Suite 300 Miami, Florida 33126-5597 (305) 569-5712

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

In this Brief, the parties will be referred to as Gerardo Plaza or Plaza (Petitioner) and The State of Florida or State (Respondent).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Gerardo Plaza, was indicted for, and convicted of, first degree murder, and other charges.

During jury selection, the State exercised a number of challenges against female jurors. The State used a peremptory challenge against a female venireperson, prompting Plaza's *Neil* objection premised on gender discrimination.¹

Reacting to the defense objection, the trial court refused to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry. Instead, the trial judge advocated its own gender-neutral reason for the State's strike. The strike was allowed, absent any inquiry from the State, over defense objection.

On appeal, Plaza challenged the trial court's failure to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry, as required by law. The Third District Court of Appeal, in its decision rendered September 10, 1997, agreed that the trial court refused to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry as to the one female juror. <u>Plaza v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2143, D2144 (Fla. 3d DCA, Sept. 19, 1997). However, the majority found no error in the procedure employed:

Additionally, we find no error in the trial court's efficient and thorough elucidation of the gender-neutral reason supporting the State's peremptory strike of the venire member who was a recovering alcoholic. The trial court was in the midst of a series of exhaustive *Neil* inquiries in which the defense challenged the State's peremptory strikes and the court properly required a gender-neutral explanation. We see no reason to shackle the court

State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

in its conduct of voir dire by requiring that it first ask for, and then await the State's explanation for a strike. If the record clearly supports the gender-neutral reason for a peremptory strike, and the trial court properly articulates that reason, there is no error in allowing the strike. See State v. Holiday, 682 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1996) (based upon review of the entire record of voir dire concerning particular juror, court will not overturn trial court's determination of propriety of peremptory strike); Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996) (trial court's assessment of credibility of reasons for strike will be affirmed unless clearly erroneous).

<u>Id.</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2144. [Appendix: "1"].

On October 9, 1997, Plaza is timely filing his Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has established the procedure that must be followed when a party raises a <u>Neil</u> challenge. In short, upon proper objection, the trial court **must** inquire of the party exercising the strike, in order to determine whether the peremptory challenge is being exercised for genderneutral reasons. <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 759, 764 (Fla. 1996); <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319, 1321 (Fla. 1993). The Fourth District Court of Appeal applies this procedure as well. <u>See Rivera v. State</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

The Third District Court of Appeal has now ruled that the trial court need not inquire of the party exercising a peremptory challenge, notwithstanding a proper objection to the strike. Rather, the court may enunciate its own reason why the strike is not discriminatory and gender-based. *Plaza v. State*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2143, D2144 (Fla. 3d DCA, Sept. 19, 1997). This decision directly and expressly conflicts with *Melbourne*, *Johans*, and *Rivera*. The *Plaza* decision rewrites the law, and eliminates the protection provided by this Court in the above-cited decisions. Parties, trial and appellate courts, and potential jurors will all suffer the consequences of the Third District's new procedure.

This Court should accept jurisdiction, and resolve the conflict, by affirming that the requirement of <u>Melbourne</u> and <u>Johans</u> -- that upon proper objection, a <u>Neil</u> inquiry must be conducted of the party exercising the strike -- remains the law.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or of another District Court of Appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3 (b) (3), <u>Fla. Const.</u> (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a) (2) (a) (iv).

ARGUMENT

The decision of the District Court of Appeal in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of this Court in <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996), and <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) -- all of which require a <u>Neil</u> inquiry upon the defense's challenge to the State's discriminatory use of a peremptory challenge.

In 1993, addressing the evolving method of handling a <u>Neil</u> challenge, this Court ruled that a <u>Neil</u> inquiry is **required** when an objection is raised to the improper, discriminatory use of a peremptory challenge:

Rather than wait for the law in this area to be clarified on a case-by-case basis, we find it appropriate to establish a procedure that gives clear and certain guidance to the trial courts in dealing with peremptory challenges. Accordingly, we hold that from this time forward a *Neil* inquiry is **required** when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner.

State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d at 1321. (Emphasis added).

Three years later, in 1996, this mandatory procedure to be used with respect to a <u>Neil</u> objection was reaffirmed in <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996): "...the court must ask the proponent of the strike to explain the reason for the strike," <u>id</u>., 679 So. 2d at 764 (emphasis added), <u>citing Johans</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>see also State v. Holiday</u>, 682 So. 2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1996), and <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ("When an objection is made that a peremptory challenge is being used in a gender-based discriminatory manner, a <u>Neil</u> inquiry is **required**"). <u>Rivera</u>, 670 So. 2d at 1165 (emphasis added), <u>citing Abshire v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1994), and <u>Johans</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The protection and procedures of Neil, Johans, and Melbourne apply equally to jury

challenges based on improper gender discrimination. *J.E.B. v. Alabama*, 511 U.S. 127, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 1430, 128 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1994); *Abshire v. State*, 642 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1994); *Rivera v. State*, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Notwithstanding this Court's unmistakably clear and certain directive to use the <u>Melbourne</u> guidelines whenever a challenge to a peremptory strike is made, <u>see Melbourne</u>, 679 So. 2d at 764, the Third District Court of Appeal decided to not apply this governing procedure. <u>See Plaza</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2144.

Sidestepping binding precedent, the Third District Court of Appeal rewrote the law in this State. As of September 10, 1997, *Johans* and *Melbourne* are overruled. Now, there is a completely different procedure to guide all trial courts in this State. *Pardo v. State*, 596 So. 2d 665, 666-67 (Fla. 1992) (citations omitted) (decisions of District Courts of Appeal bind all Florida trial courts, absent interdistrict conflict, until overruled by Florida Supreme Court).

Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996), and State v. Holiday, 682 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1996), are cited by the Third District Court of Appeal in support of its newly enacted procedure. See Plaza, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2143. These citations, however, are unpersuasive. Melbourne, as indicated in this brief, conflicts with Plaza. Appellate affirmance of the trial court's assessment of credibility and propriety of the reasons for the strike, in both Melbourne and Holiday, resulted after the proper, required record inquiry was conducted of the party exercising the strike. Compare Plaza, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2144, with Melbourne, 679 So. 2d at 764-65 (upon objection, court must ask proponent of strike to explain; counsel waived issue by failing to renew objection before the jury was sworn), and with Holiday, 682 So. 2d at 1094 (trial court properly conducted Neil inquiry).

After <u>Plaza</u>, a party's objection to an improper jury challenge based on gender discrimination does not trigger the need for an inquiry of the striking party. Indeed, the trial court may simply refuse to conduct any inquiry of the party exercising the strike. Instead of hearing from the strike's proponent, the trial judge actively advocates for the peremptory strike. This is accomplished by relying only on the trial judge's rationale supporting the strike; the trial judge personally proffers reasons supporting the challenge. Any actual motive in striking the potential juror remains in the thought processes of the striking party. As a result, the proponent's actual explanation and reason for the strike forever remains a mystery. <u>Plaza</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The direct and express conflict between <u>Plaza</u>, and <u>Melbourne</u> and <u>Johans</u>, is apparent and obvious. This Court has ruled that a <u>Neil</u> inquiry is required upon objection. The Third District Court of Appeal has ruled it is not.²

The legal basis for requiring the proponent of the strike to explain his or her reasons is just and sound. Often, parties tender unjustified reasons, which are rejected by the trial judge. At times, the reasons, in context or in comparison to treatment of other prospective jurors, point to a subtle nuance of discrimination. It is only by hearing from the party attempting to strike the juror that it can be determined what that party is thinking:

It seems clear to me that the purpose of the second step of the analysis is not to determine whether a valid gender-neutral reason exists, but, rather, whether the party exercising the strike is doing

Ironically, this result was reached while the Court simultaneously noted that the trial court properly conducted inquiries of the State as to other stricken jurors: "The trial court was in the midst of a series of exhaustive <u>Neil</u> inquiries in which the defense challenged the State's peremptory strikes and the court properly required a gender-neutral explanation." <u>Plaza</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2144. (Emphasis added).

so on the basis of a valid gender-neutral reason. It is the subjective intent of the proponent of the peremptory which must be evaluated by the trial judge during step 2 of the analysis.

<u>Plaza</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D2143 (Sorondo, J., specially concurring).³ If the party need not explain, a decision of the party's non-gender based reason for the strike cannot be determined. Without such a proper determination, this Court's required procedure to address <u>Neil</u> challenges is rendered illusory.

The importance of jury selection is well-known to Courts and to lawyers. The laudable goal of trying to end the improper bias against groups of jurors, in this instance woman, is served by this Court's procedure, as set forth in *Melbourne* and *Johans*. The Third District Court of Appeal, by protecting the State from saying its reason for juror strikes upon proper defense objection, invalidates this Court's decisional law. Respectfully, if the law is to drastically altered in this important area, it should be done by this Court -- not by a conflicting intermediate appellate court's ruling. This Court should accept jurisdiction, and continue forwarding the goal of gender-neutral jury selection.

The concurring opinion is not cited as a basis for conflict. However, it is interesting to note that one Judge found the failure to conduct the <u>Neil</u> hearing to be error. <u>Id</u>. Judge Sorondo's reasoning in finding the error to be harmless is, respectfully, incorrect. Unless the proffered reason for removing the juror comes from the proponent of the strike, there is no means of determining the gender-neutrality of the strike; thus, the error cannot be harmless. In any event, the basis for conflict herein lies in the majority's opinion finding no error.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Petitioner, Gerardo Plaza, respectfully requests this Court to exercise its discretion, and to accept jurisdiction to resolve the express and direct conflict in the law caused by the decision rendered by the Third District Court of Appeal in this case.

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

By

Louis K. Nicholas II, Esq. Special Assistant Public Defender 780 N.W. 42 Avenue, Suite 300 Miami, Florida 33126-5597 (305) 569-5172