ILE SID J. WHITE OCT \$7 1997 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT CASE NO. By **Chief Deputy Clerk** GERARDO PLAZA, Petitioner, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 96-2199

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Taliahassee, Florida Douglas Gurnic Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0000063 Dept. of Legal Affairs

10 Tower, 10th Floor 110 S.E. 6th Street Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 712-4600

Counsel for Respondent

###

### INTRODUCTION

Respondent, The State of Florida, was the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County. Petitioner was the appellant and the defendant, respectively in the lower courts. The parties, in this brief, will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "App. A" refers to the appendix Respondent had attached to its jurisdictional brief. Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by Respondent.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts to the extent that it is accurate and nonargumentative.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent respectfully submits that this Court lacks jurisdiction to review this case.

The decision in State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), addressing the procedures to be used when a party challenges a peremptory strike, later refined in Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996), do not hold that the procedural guidelines presented are to be interpreted as a rigid set of rules which must be followed, without the slightest deviation, in every case under any set of circumstances. To the contrary, this Court made clear in <u>Melbourne</u> that the guidelines given for addressing such challenges were not to be viewed as a rigid set of rules to be followed in every case. The guidelines were designed to be utilize with reason and common sense, not to create a reversible error trap. Id. at 765. (App. A:3). Thus, the Third District Court of Appeals decision finding that the lower court did not err in utilizing its common sense and articulating the gender-neutral reason in support of the peremptory strike, which was clear from the record, is not in conflict with Johans, Melbourne, or Rivera v. State, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

### ARGUMENT

SHOULD THIS COURT DECLINE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION IN THIS CAUSE SINCE THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT 1N MELBOURNE v. STATE, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996) OR <u>STATE v. JOHANS</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993) OR THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN <u>RIVERA v. STATE</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW. (Restated.)

This Court lacks jurisdiction to decide this case because the decision below does not present the necessary express and direct conflict wherein the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court may be sought.

This Court, pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., has discretionary subject matter jurisdiction over any decision of a district court of appeal that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law". <u>Times Publishing</u> <u>Company v. Russell</u>, 615 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1993); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2).

Here the Third District Court found "no error in the trial court's efficient and thorough elucidation of the gender-neutral reason supporting the State's peremptory strike of the venire member who was a recovering alcoholic." (App. A:1). The Court went on to state that "[w]e see no reason to shackle the court in its

conduct of voir dire by requiring that it first ask for and then await the State's explanation for a strike. If the record clearly supports the gender-neutral reason for a peremptory strike, and the trial court properly articulates that reason, there is no error in allowing the strike." (App.A:1) The Court concluded by stating "[i]t defies reason and makes no sense to require a trial court, when it is engaged in the proper and thorough rigors of a Neil<sup>1</sup> inquiry, to await a neutral explanation for a strike that is readily apparent from the record before articulating that explanation on the record. 'The law does not require futile acts.'" (App. A:1).

Contrary to Petitioner's claim this decision is not in direct and express conflict with the decisions in <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993); <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996; or <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

In <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), (App. A:2), this Court was addressing the question of what relief should be granted in situations were the trial court does not conduct a proper *Neil* inquiry. This Court held the proper remedy was to reverse and remand for a new trial. In reaching this decision, this Court addressed the burden on the challenging party to show that there is a strong likelihood that the juror was challenged solely on the basis of race. <u>Id</u>. at 1321. The defendant had

<sup>1</sup><u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

challenged the State's strike of an African-American venire member. The trial court allowed the strike on the grounds the defendant had not met his threshold burden sufficient to trigger an inquiry. The trial court noted that this was only the first strike of an African-American by the State and there were others remaining in the pool of potential jurors. Id.at 1320. Due to the confusion as to what amounted to a showing of a "strong likelihood" that the strike was being used in a discriminatory manner, this Court held That "from this time forward a Neil inquiry is required when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner." Id. at 1321. Regarding the burden of the striking party, this Court in Johans held that the "raceneutral justification for a peremptory challenge cannot be inferred merely from circumstances such as the composition of the venire or the jurors ultimately seated." Id. Hence, the trial court should have continued with an inquiry.

That opinion does not directly and expressly conflict with the instant decision as nothing in <u>Johans</u> directly or expressly holds that it is improper for the trial court to articulate the genderneutral reason for a peremptory strike when the record clearly supports that reason.

This Court's decision in <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 so. 2d 759 (Fla, 1996), (App. A:3), further explained the guidelines to be employed in addressing *Neil* challenges as follows:

A party objecting to the other side's use of a peremptory challenge on racial grounds must: a) make a timely objection on that basis, b) show that the venireperson is a member of a distinct racial group, and c) request that the court ask the striking party its reason for the strike. If these initial requirements are met, the court must ask the proponent of the strike to explain the reason for the strike.

Id. at 764. After setting forth these guidelines, this Court explained that "[v]oir dire proceedings are extraordinarily rich in diversity and **no rigid set of rules will work in every case**. . . The right to an impartial jury . . . is best safeguarded not by an arcane maze of reversible error traps, but by reason and common sense." Id. at 765.

The Third District Court relied on this language in its opinion stating "[i]t defies reason and makes no sense to require a trial court, when it is engaged in the proper and thorough rigors of a *Neil* inquiry, to await a neutral explanation for a strike that is readily apparent from the record before articulating that explanation on the record. 'The law does not require futile acts.'" (App. A:1). Hence, the opinion in <u>Melbourne</u> is not directly and expressly in conflict with the instant decision as <u>Melbourne</u> holds that strict adherence to the guidelines is not required, as a vast diversity of circumstances may be present in voir dire proceedings which could justify deviation from the guideline procedures. As the Third District Court pointed out in its opinion, under the exhaustive circumstances of this voir dire, it was not improper for

the trial court, using common sense, to elucidate the genderneutral reason for the strike that the veniremember was a recovering alcoholic.

This Court pointed out in <u>Melbourne</u>, that the right to an impartial jury should not be safeguarded by a maze of reversible error traps, however, under Petitioner's interpretation that is exactly what the guidelines would become. Petitioner's interpretation would require rigid adherence to the guidelines in every case and under every set of circumstances and the failure to so follow the guidelines would be reversible error. However, because this is not the holding in <u>Melbourne</u>, as shown above, that decision is not directly and expressly in conflict with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

Finally, the Petitioner also cites to the Fourth District Court of Appeal decision in <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 670 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996),(App. A:4), as being expressly and directly in conflict with the instant case. However, the opinion in <u>Rivera</u> merely addresses the threshold burden of the party making the <u>Neil</u> challenge to a peremptory strike and ultimately holds that regardless of the initial burden the gender-neutral reasons given for the strike were sufficient to meet the requirements of <u>Johans</u> and <u>Neil</u>. <u>Id</u>. At 1165-66. Nothing in the <u>Rivera</u> opinion stands for the proposition that under no circumstances is a trial court

allowed to articulate the reasons for a peremptory strike. The <u>Rivera</u> decision is not in conflict with the instant opinion.

Therefore, the Third District Court of Appeals decision finding that the lower court did not err in utilizing its common sense and articulating the gender-neutral reason in support of the peremptory strike, which was clear from the record, is not in direct and express conflict with Johans, Melbourne, or <u>Rivera</u>. That being so, this Court should deny discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal. <u>See</u> <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829(Fla. 1986).

#### CONCLUSION

Wherefore, Petitioner having failed to presented any legitimate basis for the invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court decline to accept discretionary jurisdiction in this cause.